Before the
Administrative Hearing Commission
State of Missouri






MISSOURI REAL ESTATE APPRAISERS	)
COMMISSION, 	)
		)
		Petitioner,	)
			)
	vs.		)		No. 08-0286 RA
			)
JEREMY A. PLAGMAN,	)
			)
		Respondent.	)


DECISION 

	Jeremy A. Plagman’s Missouri real estate appraiser license is subject to discipline because Plagman’s Kansas license was disciplined and because Plagman was found guilty of conspiracy to commit wire fraud.  We cancel the hearing.  
Procedure

	The Missouri Real Estate Appraisers Commission (“the MREAC”) filed a complaint on February 7, 2008, asserting that Plagman’s license is subject to discipline.  Though Plagman received a copy of the complaint by certified mail on February 16, 2008, he did not file an answer to the complaint.  
	On October 17, 2008, the MREAC filed a motion for summary determination.  Although we gave Plagman until November 3, 2008, to file a response to the motion, he did not file a response.  


	Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B)3.A provides:  
The commission may grant a motion for summary determination if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision on all or any part of the complaint, and no party raises a genuine issue as to such facts.  

Findings of Fact
1. Plagman’s Missouri real estate appraiser license was current and active at all relevant times.  Plagman did not renew his license, and it expired on June 30, 2008.   
2. On April 17, 2006, Plagman entered into a consent order with the Kansas Real Estate Appraisal Board (“the Kansas Board”), agreeing that he had violated the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”), in violation of K.S.A. 58-4121, and that his Kansas appraiser license was subject to discipline for:  
· violation of the standards for the development or communication of real estate appraisals;[footnoteRef:2] [2: 	K.S.A. 58-4118(a)(6).   ] 

· failure or refusal without good cause to exercise reasonable diligence in developing an appraisal, preparing an appraisal report or communicating an appraisal;[footnoteRef:3] [3: 	K.S.A. 58-4118(a)(7).  ] 

· negligence or incompetence in developing an appraisal, preparing an appraisal report or communicating an appraisal.[footnoteRef:4] [4: 	K.S.A. 58-4118(a)(8).  ] 

The consent order placed the following conditions and restrictions on Plagman’s Kansas license:  
· take and pass the examination for a minimum 24-hour introductory appraisal course; 
· take and pass a minimum 24-hour market comparison course; 
· not appraise complex properties for a period of 12 months following the completion of the courses; 


· work be supervised by a certified appraiser for a period of 12 months;
· maintain a monthly log of all appraisals that he performed or in which he participated during the 12-month period of supervision; 
· Kansas Board may select up to three appraisals from the logs for additional review;
· pay $720 to cover the cost of the review associated with the complaint and pay the cost of additional reviews.  
	3.	Beginning in September 2006 and until on or about November 17, 2006, Plagman conspired with others for the purchase of a property in Kansas City, Missouri, at an inflated price in order to obtain loan proceeds in excess of the actual sale price.  Plagman’s role in the conspiracy was to provide an inflated appraisal for the property, which was submitted to Fieldstone Mortgage in order to obtain loans to fund the purchase.  
	4.	On May 14, 2007, in the United States District Court, Western District of Missouri, Plagman pled guilty to conspiracy to commit wire fraud.  The court found him guilty, ordered him to pay a fine and costs, and placed him on probation for two years.  
Conclusions of Law
	We have jurisdiction of the complaint.[footnoteRef:5]  The MREAC has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.[footnoteRef:6] [5: 	Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2007, and § 339.532.2.  Statutory references are to RSMo 2000, unless otherwise noted.]  [6: 	Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).] 

	 Section 339.532 provides:
2.  The commission may cause a complaint to be filed . . . against . . . any person who has failed to renew . . . his or her . . . license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *
(4) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in any criminal 



prosecution under the laws of any state or the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549 for any offense of which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

[bookmark: SP;f60a00002f633](5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 339.500 to 339.549;

*   *   * 

[bookmark: SDU_5](10) Violating, assisting or enabling any person to willfully disregard any of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549 or the regulations of the commission for the administration and enforcement of the provisions of sections 339.500 to 339.549;

*   *   *
[bookmark: SP;3bb600002b954][bookmark: SP;80730000f51e0]
[bookmark: SP;1a310000115d2][bookmark: SDU_7](18) Disciplinary action against the holder of a license, certificate or other right to practice any profession regulated pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549, imposed by another state, territory, federal agency or country upon grounds for which revocation or suspension is authorized in this state.

Section 339.532.3 provides that the MREAC may revoke or suspend a license for the grounds for discipline set forth in § 339.532.2.  
Guilty Plea
	The MREAC argues that conspiracy to commit wire fraud is an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser, an offense of which fraud and dishonesty are essential elements, and an offense involving moral turpitude.
	The crime of fraud by wire, radio, or television is set forth at 18 U.S.C. § 1343:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of 



executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

The crime of conspiracy is set forth at 18 U.S.C. § 371:
If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.

If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment for such misdemeanor.

	Good moral character is a qualification for licensure.[footnoteRef:7]  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.[footnoteRef:8]  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.[footnoteRef:9]  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.[footnoteRef:10]   We agree that the crime of conspiracy to commit wire fraud is an offense that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a real estate appraiser and an offense of which fraud and dishonesty are essential elements.  [7: 	Section 339.511.2.]  [8: 	State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).  ]  [9: 	State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  ]  [10: 	MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2003).] 

	Moral turpitude is:[footnoteRef:11] [11: 	In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).] 

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”



	In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,[footnoteRef:12] a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:[footnoteRef:13] [12: 	213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).  While we realize that the Brehe court made its decision based on the teacher discipline statute that mandated discipline in some cases, and made it discretionary in others, we find the analysis compelling.  If every crime is a crime involving moral turpitude, the “moral turpitude” language is superfluous.  The distinction that the court made between the types of crimes gives us guidance and finds support in other courts’ decisions.]  [13: 	Brehe, 213 S.W.3d at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).] 

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);

(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.[footnoteRef:14]   [14: 	213 S.W.3d at 725.] 

	We find that the crime of conspiracy to commit wire fraud, with the essential elements of fraud and dishonesty, is a Category 1 crime and is thus a crime involving moral turpitude.[footnoteRef:15]  There is cause to discipline Plagman under § 339.532.2(4). [15: Missouri Real Estate Appraisers Comm’n v. Hesselgesser, No. 07-0993 RA (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n, March 10, 2008).  ] 

Incompetency, Misconduct, Gross Negligence, Dishonesty, Fraud, or 
Misrepresentation in the Performance of the Functions or Duties of the Profession

	The MREAC argues that Plagman displayed incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty by inflating the appraisal of the Kansas City property.  In addition to pleading guilty, Plagman has been finally adjudicated and found guilty of conspiracy to commit wire fraud.  This conduct occurred in the performance of the functions or duties of the real estate appraiser profession.   


	Incompetence refers to a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.[footnoteRef:16]  Misconduct is the commission of wrongful behavior, intending the result that actually comes to pass or being indifferent to the natural consequences.[footnoteRef:17]  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.[footnoteRef:18]  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.[footnoteRef:19] [16: 	Johnson v. Missouri Bd. of Nursing Adm’rs, 130 S.W.3d 619, 642 (Mo. App., W.D. 2004).]  [17: 	Grace v. Missouri Gaming Commission, 51 S.W.3d 891, 900 (Mo. App., W.D. 2001).]  [18: 	Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988). ]  [19: 	MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 794 (11TH ED. 2004).	] 

	Plagman submitted an inflated appraisal to enable the co-conspirators to obtain a loan in excess of the actual sale price.  Plagman is subject to discipline for fraud, dishonesty and misrepresentation.  Because this wrongful act was intentional, he is subject to discipline for misconduct.  Plagman is subject to discipline under § 339.532.2(5).  
	Because the mental states for misconduct and gross negligence are mutually exclusive, Plagman is not subject to discipline for gross negligence.  
	This single act does not demonstrate that Plagman lacks, or lacks the disposition to use, his professional ability.  We find no cause for discipline for incompetence.
Disciplinary Action by Another State
	 The MREAC asserts that there is cause to discipline Plagman’s Missouri license 
 for violating the USPAP standards and because his Kansas license was subjected to disciplinary action.  
	“The term ‘disciplinary action’ . . . contemplates any censure, reprimand, suspension, denial, revocation, restriction or other limitation placed upon the license of a person[.]”[footnoteRef:20]  The  [20: 	Bhuket v. State ex rel. Missouri Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 787 S.W.2d 882, 885 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990), interpreting “disciplinary action” in § 334.100.2(8), RSMo Supp. 1984. ] 



Kansas consent order was a “disciplinary action” because it placed terms and conditions on Plagman’s Kansas license.  
	Section 339.532.2 allows discipline for:  
[bookmark: SP;e66a000016693](7) Failure to comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice promulgated by the appraisal standards board of the appraisal foundation;

[bookmark: SP;7b9d0000cd7c3](8) Failure or refusal without good cause to exercise reasonable diligence in developing an appraisal, preparing an appraisal report, or communicating an appraisal;

[bookmark: SP;083600005df17](9) Negligence or incompetence in developing an appraisal, in preparing an appraisal report, or in communicating an appraisal[.]
 
	The Kansas Board found violations of K.S.A. 58-4121 and K.S.A. 58-4118(a)(6), (7) and (8), which are also causes to suspend or revoke a real estate appraiser’s Missouri license pursuant to § 339.532.2(7), (8), and (9).  Therefore, the Kansas consent order was a disciplinary action imposed upon “grounds for which revocation or suspension is authorized in this state.”  The MREAC has established cause to discipline Plagman under § 339.532.2(18).  Section 339.535 provides that licensed real estate appraisers shall comply with USPAP.  Because Plagman violated USPAP, his license is also subject to discipline under § 339.532.2(10).[footnoteRef:21]  [21: 	This Commission has previously ruled that a licensee may be disciplined for conduct occurring in another state.  Missouri Bd. of Occupational Therapy v. Scott, No. 03-1242 OT (Jan. 22, 2004).  Because USPAP consists of uniform standards, we apply that principle again in this case.  ] 

Summary
	We find cause to discipline Plagman’s expired Missouri real estate appraiser license under §339.535.2(4), (5), (10) and (18).  We cancel the hearing.  
	SO ORDERED on December 2, 2008.


		________________________________
		JOHN J. KOPP  
		Commissioner
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